

# SCHOOL OF KINESIOLOGY

School of Kinesiology Standards for Tenure and Promotion Faculty of Health Sciences University of the Fraser Valley

# **Table of Contents**

| Introduction & Purpose   | 2  |
|--|----|
| Categories   | 3  |
| Primary Categories   | 3  |
| Secondary Category   | 3  |
| Academic and Professional Qualifications                             | 3  |
| 1. Teaching and Learning   | 4  |
| Teaching Criteria for Assistant Professor                            | 5  |
| Teaching Criteria for Tenure and Promotion to Associate Professor    | 5  |
| Teaching Criteria for Promotion to Full Professor                    | 6  |
| 2. Scholarship   | 8  |
| Scholarly Products   | 8  |
| Funding  | 9  |
| Scholarship Criteria for Assistant Professor                         | 9  |
| Scholarship Criteria for Tenure and Promotion to Associate Professor | 10 |
| Scholarship Criteria for Promotion to Full Professor                 | 10 |
| 3. Service   | 11 |
| Institutional Service  | 11 |
| Professional Service   | 12 |
| Community Service  | 12 |
| Service Criteria for Assistant Professor                             | 13 |
| Service Criteria for Tenure and Promotion to Associate Professor     | 13 |
| Service Criteria for Promotion to Full Professor                     | 14 |
| 4. Academic and Professional Qualifications                          | 15 |
| Criteria for Assistant Professor                                     | 15 |
| Periodic Review  | 16 |

# **Introduction & Purpose**

The purpose of this document is to outline the standards and performance criteria for tenure and promotion that are valued in the field of Kinesiology (KIN). The criteria are specific to KIN within the *University-Wide Principles for the Establishment and Review of Standards for Tenure and Promotion*. While the *University-Wide Principles for the Establishment and Review of Standards for Tenure and Promotion* outlines the expectations of each rank (Assistant Professor, Associate Professor, Professor), this document outlines the specific criteria, products, and activities that are valued in the field of Kinesiology.

# **Categories**

### **Primary Categories**

Three categories of productivity will be considered in the evaluation of the application for tenure and promotion, as defined by the *University-Wide Principles for the Establishment and Review of Standards for Tenure and Promotion*. These categories include Teaching and learning; Scholarship; and Service.

The candidate will be evaluated on these primary categories, with the weighting of specific categories determined by the candidate, with the following minimum weightings:

Teaching and learning: minimum of 60%

Scholarship: minimum of 10%

Service: minimum of 10%

In addition, one of either Scholarship or Service must be weighted at least 20% of the evaluation.

KIN recognizes that each of these primary categories are necessary but not sufficient conditions for promotion and tenure. All three categories must be sufficiently satisfied in applications for promotion and/or tenure, in accordance with the *University-Wide Principles for the Establishment and Review of Standards for Tenure and Promotion,* and with the appropriate weighting as chosen by the candidate. Productivity or excellence in each of these primary categories varies for each level of promotion. Evaluation of these primary categories will encompass the candidate's entire academic history and therefore includes teaching, scholarship, and service activities throughout graduate and post-doctoral training to the candidate's current academic appointment.

### **Secondary Category**

In addition to the three primary categories, Academic and Professional Qualifications relevant to KIN will be considered in the evaluation for tenure and promotion.

### Academic and Professional Qualifications

Academic and Professional Qualifications are defined as degrees, diplomas, certifications, and other professional qualifications in the field of Kinesiology.

# 1. Teaching and Learning

Teaching and learning includes engagement in classroom, laboratory, experiential, field, and/or community settings; involvement with student mentorship and supervision of individualized learning experiences; course and curriculum development; as well as related activities identified as significant within particular academic units (e.g. graduate instruction).

The following areas will be evaluated in teaching and learning:

- Engagement in the classroom, laboratory, experiential, field, or community settings. The
  use of exemplary teaching practices in face-to-face, online, or hybrid
  environments. Candidates should provide evidence that demonstrates the effective use
  of methodologies including but not limited to engagement strategies, technology,
  teaching strategies for diverse learners, student projects, student learning outcomes
- Student mentorship, supervision of individualized learning experiences (e.g. undergraduate thesis work).
- Curriculum, program, and/or course development and/or revision (separate from service contributions in this area).

Evidence of success in the above areas may be provided by (in no order of value):

- Student evaluation
- Peer evaluation
  - internal to unit/school.
  - o external to unit/school.
- Reflection and self-evaluation (including curricular changes based on peer and student review)
- Letters from former students (identified as solicited or unsolicited)
- Teaching awards (UFV, Provincial, National, International)
- Meeting the Institutional Learning Outcomes (ILOs) in the curriculum of courses taught
- Implementing EDI guiding principles by integrating inclusive excellence in teaching
- Other selected items that best represent the candidate's teaching abilities
- Significant program development including applied scholarship, curriculum writing, or accreditation work, which requires outside agency approval and/or peer review
- Membership and degree of involvement in relevant professional/educational organizations

## Teaching Criteria for Assistant Professor

An Assistant Professor in the School of Kinesiology will, at a minimum, demonstrate and document satisfactory level of proficiency in their undergraduate teaching and learning activities. Assistant Professors in KIN will develop a record of quality instruction as evidenced by the objective measures in this document.

#### Assistant Professors in KIN will demonstrate:

- A record of effective teaching
- Innovation and/or creativity in teaching and learning practices
- Use of a variety of teaching and learning strategies.
- A teaching and learning environment that reflects principles of equity, diversity and inclusion.
- A teaching and learning environment that reflects an effort towards Indigenization, Decolonization, and Reconciliation

## Teaching Criteria for Tenure and Promotion to Associate Professor

An Associate Professor in the School of Kinesiology has demonstrated and documented a high level of proficiency in their undergraduate teaching career at the time of application for promotion. A faculty member applying for Associate Professor will provide evidence of effectiveness, innovation, creativity, understanding, and meaningful reflection in teaching and working with students. The greatest emphasis will be placed on teaching and working in normal undergraduate courses however supervision of student theses and volunteer opportunities will also be considered.

A candidate for Associate Professor has matured into a mentor for students and is facilitating the students' process of discovery and application of what they learn. While it is not yet expected that applicants for Associate Professor will have begun engaging with learning communities outside of the university, they are to be encouraged, as they move forward, to consider how best to disseminate knowledge and ideas to the public, external organizations, and other institutions, and through a variety of information sharing strategies. An Associate Professor sets an example of ethical practice for students in the pursuit, construction, and application of knowledge.

The requirements for promotion to the rank of Associate Professor and the grant of tenure includes:

- A record of effective teaching
- Innovation and/or creativity in teaching and learning practices
- Meaningful reflection on individual growth as an instructor, and a demonstrated commitment to build on one's strengths (and/or address one's weaknesses) to improve student learning and skills outcomes;
- Engagement in professional and pedagogical skills development (through professional development [PD] days, instructional skills training, academic conferences, external teaching and learning workshops);
- Currency of knowledge content in one's teaching area;
- Involvement in student mentorship and/or supervision of individualized learning experiences
- Ensures a teaching and learning environment that reflects principles of equity, diversity and inclusion.
- A teaching and learning environment that reflects an effort towards Indigenization, Decolonization, and Reconciliation

## Teaching Criteria for Promotion to Full Professor

Full professors will have demonstrated and documented distinction in undergraduate teaching at the time of review for promotion. Faculty members seeking promotion to Full professor will provide evidence that they have advanced qualitatively since their last promotion and/or evaluation. They will continue to demonstrate an exemplary level of successful teaching that is effective, innovative, creative, empathic, and demonstrates meaningful reflection and continual improvement in working with students. The focus of teaching efforts and evaluation continues to be undergraduate students; advanced levels of supervision and mentoring will be expected. Full professors are respected by students and peers alike for their teaching abilities and contributions. Full professors work in both individual and group settings to mentor students and guide their development as mature learners, critical thinkers, and leaders in their communities. A Full professor sets an example of ethical practice for students in the pursuit, construction, and application of knowledge. A Full professor's contributions in pedagogy may extend to the community, provincial, or national level.

The minimum requirements for promotion to the rank of Full Professor include the same criteria as for an Associate Professor, as well as:

Long-term and continuous excellence in teaching

- Active engagement in curricular development and the sharing of best practices in teaching
- Engagement in productive collaboration with peers both inside and outside the
  university as measured by advancements in teaching practice, changes in
  institutional teaching philosophy, or elevation of the profile of UFV as an
  institution recognized for excellence in teaching
- Peer mentorship within the institution and/or fields of practice
- Active engagement with learning communities, public audiences and external organizations

# 2. Scholarship

Scholarship should demonstrate originality and innovation which have gained the candidate the recognition of members of their discipline or profession, both inside and outside of the institution. The contributions should reflect a continuing productive activity that advances the knowledge of the discipline or profession.

## **Scholarly Products**

Peer-reviewed publication and dissemination of scholarly work represents a relevant, important, and necessary mechanism by which scholarly productivity and excellence is evaluated. Publication and dissemination of work is recognized as an indicator of peer-recognized quality in scholarly work and will therefore be included in the evaluation for promotion and/or tenure. Examples of scholarly products are listed below:

- Journal articles, books, and book chapters
  - Primary or senior author on papers published, in press, or accepted for publication in peer reviewed journals recognized as reputable and of high quality; primary or senior author on peer or editor reviewed books (non selfpublished)
  - Primary or senior author on papers published or accepted for publication in other peer reviewed journals; primary or senior author on peer or editor reviewed published book chapters
    - Publication of articles or book chapters with student(s) as primary author(s) will be considered to be equivalent to a first authored work
  - Contributing author on papers published or accepted for publication in peer reviewed journals, or contributing author in books or book chapters
  - Editor or associate editor of books or book chapters
  - Submitted papers (reviewed and in revision)
- Proceedings & Presentations
  - Invited presentations at professional meetings
  - Refereed presentations at professional meetings
  - Papers published in refereed proceedings
  - Abstracts published in peer-reviewed journals
  - Non-refereed presentations of original scholarly work
- Sponsored or contract research
- Knowledge dissemination and translation activities related to one's scholarship
- Workshops or presentations at international or national practitioner conferences
- Other demonstration of scholarly activity through one's discovery and/or learning and/or engagement where appropriate and where a demonstrable product can be produced for evaluation
- Receives nominations for and/or receives awards for contributing to scholarship at a local, provincial, national, and/or international level
- Serves as a visiting scholar at another post-secondary institution

## **Funding**

Funding represents a relevant and important, but not always necessary, mechanism by which research productivity is attained. Funding success is recognized as one of the indicators of peer-recognized quality in scholarly work and will therefore be included in the evaluation for promotion and/or tenure. However, scholarly productivity does not always require significant funding; therefore funding is a valued but not necessary component of the scholarship criteria. Examples of scholarly funding are listed below:

#### Grants

- PI or co-PI on funded grants:
  - Tri-Council (or equivalent from outside Canada [e.g. NIH]) peer-reviewed grants for scholarly activity
  - National level peer-reviewed external grants for scholarly activity
  - Peer reviewed other grants for scholarly activity (provincial, local, industry)
  - Non-peer reviewed other grants for scholarly activity
- Collaborator on funded grants
  - Tri-Council (or equivalent from outside Canada [e.g. NIH]) peer-reviewed grants for scholarly activity
  - National level peer-reviewed external grants for scholarly activity
  - Non-peer reviewed other grants for scholarly activity
- The seeking of (application for) extramural funding to support one's work, when such funding is available (both successful and unsuccessful applications will be considered)
  - Tri-Council (or equivalent from outside Canada [e.g. NIH]) peer-reviewed grants for scholarly activity
  - National level peer-reviewed external grants for scholarly activity
  - Non-peer reviewed other grants for scholarly activity
- The attainment of institutional support for scholarly activity (e.g. release time)
- Submission of and demonstrated success in internal and/or external funding proposals to support one's discovery, learning, and engagement

### Scholarship Criteria for Assistant Professor

Assistant Professors in KIN will engage in scholarship, effectively demonstrating that scholarship forms an important part of their work, including:

- Engagement in scholarly activities with the production of scholarly products.
- The initiation of an independent scholarly program that is distinct from the candidate's mentors and graduate work is beginning to emerge.

## Scholarship Criteria for Tenure and Promotion to Associate Professor

To meet the requirements for promotion to the rank of Associate Professor and the grant of tenure, the candidate will have established a record of productivity and achievement within an established program of scholarly activity, as evidenced by:

- Establishment of an independent scholarly program with some objective productivity
- Dissemination of scholarly and creative work in forums of academic or equivalent review, and including appropriate forms of peer-review or equivalent assessment

## Scholarship Criteria for Promotion to Full Professor

To meet the requirements for promotion to the rank of Full Professor, the candidate will have established a record of substantial and distinguished achievement in scholarly, research or creative activity, as evidenced by:

- A recognized independent scholarly program (distinct from collaboration with colleagues); or a recognized collaborative scholarly program where clear, independent roles and responsibilities of the applicant have been identified relating to authorship, data collection and involvement
- A record of sustained and productive scholarly products/activities that are recognized nationally and internationally
- A demonstrated linkage between the research program and its benefits to students
- Demonstration of distinction by colleagues and/or experts from outside the university

### 3. Service

Service includes productive contributions meeting the needs of one's school, faculty, and the institution, and to academic and regional communities. Faculty members may serve the university, their schools or programs, and their disciplines in a variety of ways, guided by the overall aim of directing, organizing, and/or enhancing the life and work of the university, their fields of study and practice, and/or the communities of the Fraser Valley.

The School of Kinesiology values service that is non-teaching, non-scholarship work internal or external to the institution which is included in the regular salary and pay (internal), or unpaid (external). Activities to be included as service towards tenure and/or promotion must serve the institution, the professional community of the candidate, or the region and communities of the Fraser Valley. While three categories of service will be recognized, at least two of these categories of service are required for tenure and promotion to Associate Professor and all three categories are required for promotion to Professor.

### **Institutional Service**

Including but not limited to service on university, faculty, or school committees, and task forces (e.g. school committees, faculty committees, university committees, senate, senate subcommittees, curriculum committees, selection advisory committees, etc.). For inclusion in the evaluation for tenure and/or promotion, this service must be part of the regular salary and pay of the individual. Exceptions to regular pay include institutional service of significant time commitment that is supported through release or honoraria (e.g. Chair of Research Ethics Board, administrative positions, etc.). The following items are listed in order of decreasing value or weighting:

- Major administrative positions, for which there may be release time, that contribute to governance of the institution (e.g. Director, Chair of Human Research Ethics Board, Senate Vice-Chair, etc.)
- Leadership in school, faculty, or institutional governance and/or groups that carry on the business of the school, faculty, or institution (e.g. chair of school sub-committees, faculty sub-committees, Senate committees and sub-committees, ad hoc committees, task forces, etc.)
- Membership in school, faculty, or institutional governance and/or groups that carry on the business of the school, faculty, or institution (e.g. member of school subcommittees, faculty sub-committees, Senate committees, ad hoc committees, task forces, etc.)
- Membership or leadership in school or faculty accreditation efforts and program reviews
- University professional activities, (e.g. service toward university accreditation, provincial and national articulation committees, etc.)
- Participation in school and faculty governance groups (i.e. school meetings, school workshops and retreats, Faculty Council, faculty workshops and retreats).

#### **Professional Service**

This entails unpaid service to the professional community of scholars within the academic discipline of the individual's area of expertise. The following items are listed in order of decreasing value or weighting:

- Editor / associate editor for peer reviewed / refereed journals
- Membership on editorial board for peer reviewed/ refereed journal
- Editor / associate editor for textbook(s)
- Membership on editorial board for textbook(s)
- Leadership in professional organizations as an officer, on a committee or task force
- Performing journal/book peer reviews
- External grant agency peer reviewer or committee member
- Member of thesis committees/oversee undergraduate or graduate research
- External reviewer for theses; examination chair
- External reviewer for tenure/promotion for colleagues
- Unpaid consultation and expert services within the academic expertise of the candidate

### **Community Service**

This entails service to the general community. Activities in which the candidate offers their specific academic expertise *pro bono* to the community will be recognized for tenure and/or promotion. A distinction exists between academic service recognized for tenure and/or promotion and other community service activities that do not relate to the candidate's academic expertise or are of demonstrated value to UFV. Candidates cannot include service for which they have been remunerated. Service valued for tenure and/or promotion may include:

- Providing continuing education for community
- Assisting schools, districts, or community organizations/ agencies in occasional tasks, (e.g., advisory boards, committees, etc.)
- Consulting with schools, (e.g. presenting professional development sessions, conducting research for the school or district, etc.) or other public or private entities
- Health, wellness, fitness, or sport promotion in the community
- Consulting work in the field of expertise that is distinct from holding a secondary professional position or job, or owning a business

## Service Criteria for Assistant Professor

Assistant Professors in the School of Kinesiology will engage in service, demonstrating some commitment to service as part of their work, including:

- Regular attendance (i.e. attendance to the majority of meetings) and engagement in school meetings and faculty council
- Initiation of a commitment of service to the University, the academic community, and/or the community at large

### Service Criteria for Tenure and Promotion to Associate Professor

To meet the requirements for the promotion to the rank of Associate Professor and the grant of tenure, the candidate will have established a record of contributions in two categories of service, as evidenced by activities such as:

- Regular attendance (i.e. attendance to the majority of meetings) and engagement in school meetings and faculty council
- Serving on university, faculty, and/or school committees and sub-committees, with regular attendance and participation
- Significant involvement in the service activities of the university (e.g. meaningful participation in university-wide committees)
- Significant involvement in professional activities and/or associations related to their fields of study or creative practice or significant involvement in community engaged outreach activities that enhance the public service role of the school or university

## Service Criteria for Promotion to Full Professor

To meet the requirements for promotion to the rank of Full Professor, the candidate will have established a record of sustained, long-term, and substantial contributions in all three categories of service, as evidenced by activities such as:

- Long-term continuous record of regular attendance to school meetings and faculty council
- Long-term continuous record of serving on university, faculty, and school committees and sub-committees
- Chairing of major university, faculty, or school committees or subcommittees
- Chairing or direction of a division or school
- Chairing, authorship or creation of a major initiative
- Initiation and/or contribution to the creation, development and/or revision of university programs or policies, etc.
- Achievement of a recognized distinction through contributions to professional
  activities and associations related to the candidate's field(s) of study or creative
  practice (e.g. editor of academic journal, executive member of governing body (e.g.
  CSEP, ACSM, CCUPEKA, PHE Canada, SHAPE, AKA)
- Contributions to the public service role of the candidate's school, field(s) of study, and/or the university or significant achievement in community-engaged outreach

# 4. Academic and Professional Qualifications

## Criteria for Assistant Professor

Academic and professional qualifications are normally part of the requirement for selection to the tenure-track position. However, qualifications also play a role in the evaluation of a candidate for promotion.

Academic qualifications, which are necessary for tenure and/or promotion are typically graduate-level thesis-based terminal degrees (i.e. not course and project based degrees) such as Ph.D., Ed.D., Pharm.D., and M.D.; in some circumstances the appointment to Assistant Professor may be made to an individual close to achieving their terminal degree (ABD, or All But Dissertation) contingent upon completion of the requirements for the credential within a specified time.

Professional qualifications, which are valued but not necessary for tenure and/or promotion are typically certifications or specialist designations from national or internationally recognized governing bodies (e.g. CSEP certifications, ACSM certifications, registered dietician, registered clinical counsellor, etc.).

# **Periodic Review**

Standards and criteria for rank and tenure are subject to internal review by academic units every five years, or at a higher frequency established by the academic unit. Therefore, the School of Kinesiology will review this document five years after approval, and every five years thereafter. In addition, at any time the School of Kinesiology may, upon a majority decision by voting school members, initiate a review and revision of this document.

Version: January 28, 2022 Approved by Senate: